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Permanent Secretary’s  Foreword01

I am delighted to present the 2021 Annual Report for 
the Zambia Bureau of Standards (ZABS). Despite 
the Covid 19 challenging times that were before 

us as a country and globally, the institution set its 
sights firmly on supporting the growth and quality 
advancement of industry.  

As the National Standards Body for Zambia, ZABS 
is responsible for serving the country in the area 
of standardization and quality assurance services. 
These services when accessed by industry, help to 
improve the quality of goods and services, increase 
customer satisfaction and creates opportunities such 
as access to local and international markets. The 
2021 report therefore, shows how ZABS through 
various interventions was able to positively impact 
the growth of industry.

I now draw your attention to some of the significant 
steps undertaken by ZABS in 2021 to support 
Zambian businesses. 

1. Development of standards in line with the 
National Standards Strategy 2020-2022

 The National Standards Strategy is a document 
that was developed to provide guidance on 

the relevant standardization support to industry 
growth, policies, strategies and programs. 
The strategy provides for the development of 
standards that are demand driven and relevant 
to industry. Out of the 484 standards that were 
earmarked for development, a total of 272 
standards were developed in sectors such as 
the Aquaculture, Mining, ICT, Agriculture and 
Tourism sectors among others. My Ministry is 
cognizant of the need for the number of standards 
to match the level of growth and development 
in the country. Therefore, we will ensure that the 
remaining 212 standards are developed in 2022. 
To date, the cumulative number of National 
Standards now stands at 6,557.

2. Enhanced support to Micro Small and Medium 
Enterprises

 The creation of the Ministry of Small and 
Medium Enterprise Development by His 
Excellency the President of the Republic of 
Zambia, Mr. Hakainde Hichilema, exemplifies the 
Governments’ commitment to strengthen SME 
growth and ensure the sector makes a positive 
contribution in the economy of our country. I 
am delighted to note that ZABS has supported 
Governments call to grow the SME sector by 
incorporating activities aimed at supporting SME 
growth. In 2021, over 500 SMEs received training 
and mentorship in;

• Good Agricultural Practices 

• Good Aquaculture Practices 

• Milk hygiene Practices 

• Hazard Analysis Critical Control Point 

 The training programs were conducted in various 
parts of the country with the aim of supporting 
innovations and assisting SMEs to comply with 
quality and safety requirements which in turn 
help them to access both local and international 
markets.

3.  Certification of Products

 The Bureau has maintained two certification 
schemes for products namely, the Certified Local 
Supplier Scheme (CLSS) targeting Small and 
Medium Enterprises and the standard Premium 
Quality Mark Scheme. I am glad to note that there 
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Mrs. Chawe P.M Chuulu.
PERMANENT SECRETARY 

Ministry of Commerce, Trade and Industry

is growth in the number of products certified 
under the two schemes. The cumulative number 
of certified products in the country now stands at 
589. As a Ministry we will continue to encourage 
Companies to approach ZABS for certification 
services as this is a sure way to facilitate market 
access for locally produced products. The 
importance of this is now consolidated by the 
operationalization of the African Continental 
Free Trade Area (AfCFTA).

FOCUS FOR 2022

The New Dawn Government under his Excellency 
the President, Mr. Hakainde Hichilema has made 
key policy pronouncements which will guide 
performance in priority sectors as the Country 
embarks on economic transformation. My Ministry in 
collaboration with ZABS will focus on the following 
areas in the year 2022:

1. Strengthening of ZABS and other Quality 
Institutions

 The National Quality Infrastructure (to which 
ZABS is a part of) plays a critical role in ensuring 
that products and services remain competitive 
and internationally acceptable. My Ministry will 
therefore, with the help of Cooperating partners 
endeavor to invest in building technical capacity 
and equip ZABS and other National Quality 
Institutions with the infrastructure it needs to 
be able to respond to the growing demands of 
industry. Specifically, the construction of  a new 
state of the art testing facility at the National 
Institute for Scientific and Industrial Research 
(NISIR) area in Lusaka, that will commence in the 
first quarter of 2022.

2.   Pursue Export led Export Strategy

 The Government is putting in measures 
to ensure continuous improvement in the 
competitiveness and quality of our exports. 
My Ministry expects ZABS to enter into Mutual 
Recognition Arrangements (MRAs) with National 
Standards Bodies from Countries in the region, 
at continental and international level to facilitate 
easy market access for locally produced products. 
So far, ZABS has entered into a Memorandum 

of Understanding (MoU) with its counterpart 
National Standards Bodies within the region 
namely Botswana Bureau of Standards (BOBS), 
Kenya Bureau of Standards (KEBS) and Standards 
Association of Zimbabwe (SAZ) in order to 
promote free trade and reduce non-tariff barriers. 

 The implementation of the African Continental 
Free Trade Area (AfCFTA) that took effect on 
January 1, 2021, offers a huge opportunity for the 
local industry to boost trade and to stir economic 
growth and development. However, let me 
emphasize that local industry will only stand to 
compete favorably once it is supported through 
access to quality assurance services that are 
accredited and demonstrate confidence. 

3.  Place Private Sector at the centre of 
production  

 My Ministry is keen to enhance production by 
closely engaging the private sector and I expect 
all Statutory Bodies including ZABS to have 
continuous collaboration with the private sector 
as they design and implement strategies and 
programmes. Specifically, we expect the private 
sector to be actively involved in the standards 
development process and also in designing 
of new conformity assessment schemes. The 
Memorandum of Understanding with key players 
like Zambia Association of Manufacturers (ZAM) 
and the Zambia Chamber of Commerce and 
Industry (ZACCI) must be fully implemented in 
order to realize these strategies and programmes. 
The MoUs aim to encourage and promote 
cooperation in the fields of Standardization, 
Conformity Assessment, Training and related 
activities.

 My Ministry commends ZABS for the successes 
recorded in the financial year 2021 and looks 
forward to enhanced performance in 2022 in line 
with the New Dawn Government policy direction.  
I wish to express our sincere gratitude to all 
the cooperating partners who have supported 
ZABS and other National Quality Infrastructure 
Institutions during the year to deliver the 
reported success.
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Executive Directors Overview02

The 2021 annual report is special in that it is 
the last report being presented under the 
strategic plan that was developed for the 

period 2018-2021 with the implementation period 
coming to an end on 31st December, 2021. This was 
the first strategic plan developed for ZABS under 
the new mandate as guided by the Standards Act 
No. 4 of 2017. Currently, the Bureau is conducting an 
institutional assessment to review its performance as 
well as develop a new strategic plan for the period 
2022-2026. 

After the transition from a regulator on 1st January, 
2018, we proudly rebranded ourselves as “a friend 
of industry” to depict that our role was now focused 
on helping industry achieve growth and business 
excellence through the utilization of standards and 
quality assurance services. The restructuring was 
received differently by each of our stakeholders, 
some negatively while others were able to 
immediately leverage the opportunities that came 
with this change. Despite the challenges faced, ours 

has been a journey of growth with our clients at the 
center of it all. Notable among the achievements 
scored include, an increase in the number of certified 
products in the country from 60 in 2018 to 589 in 
2021, the introduction of the Certified Local Supplier 
Scheme to support Micro Small and Medium 
Enterprises seeking to penetrate high value markets 
and the increased number of developed standards 
(now standing cumulatively at 6,557) to support 
various innovations in the country.

We remain confident that as we move on to the 2022-
2026 strategic plan, we will achieve even greater. 

As we draw attention to the Annual report for 2021, I 
take this opportunity to first and foremost thank the 
Ministry of Commerce, Trade and Industry for the 
continued support without which, the Bureau would 
not have achieved its targets. I also pay special 
recognition to our cooperating partners such as the 
Zambia Agribusiness and Trade Project (ZATP), the 
Cashew Infrastructure Development Program (CIDP), 
The Commonwealth Standards Network (CSN) and 
many others not mentioned for helping drive ZABS 
forward and ultimately seeing to it that its programs 
are fulfilled in support of industry.

I now share with you some of the notable 
achievements in the year under review:

1. The Acquisition of the Fourier Transform 
Infrared (FTIR) Fuel Analyzer

 To ensure safe, clean and effective petroleum 
products in the country, ZABS, with the help of 
the Zambia Agribusiness and Trade Project (ZATP) 
acquired the Fourier Transform Infrared (FTIR) fuel 
analyzer for the Petroleum testing laboratory at a 
cost of 48,000 Euros. This acquisition has expanded 
ZABS capacity to test a number of parameters for 
petroleum products. With this equipment, we are 
confident that ZABS will provide credible, efficient 
and timely testing services for a wide range of 
parameters for petroleum products.

2. Maintenance of Accreditation for our Testing 
Laboratories

A total of 33 Test methods covering 56 
parameters in our Testing Laboratories received 
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initial Accreditation by the Southern African 
Development Community Accreditation Services 
(SADCAS) in the year 2015. The Bureau has been 
subjected to re-assessment audits annually over 
the past seven (7) years. I am glad to report that 
this accreditation status was maintained in the 
year under review thereby underscoring our 
desire and commitment to offer services which are 
internationally recognized in line with the principle 
of “ONE STANDARD, ONE TEST ACCEPTABLE 
EVERYWHERE”. We would like to appeal to the 
local manufacturers to utilize these laboratories to 
the maximum as we strive to promote exports of 
our locally produced goods.

As  stated above, ZABS is in the process of preparing 
its strategic plan for the period 2022 - 2026.

 As we look forward to the year 2022 some of our 
key focus areas in the early life of the strategic plan 
include the following:  

1.  Attaining Accreditation for the Certification 
Services

 One of the key priority areas is the attainment of 
international accreditation for ZABS certification 
services. The accreditation of certification 
services is envisaged to strengthen the integrity 
of the scheme and boost confidence in both 
product and management systems certification 
schemes. This is a key milestone in instilling 
confidence in industry, suppliers, consumers, 
regulators and stakeholders. I wish to state that 
accreditation is important in facilitating export 
trade as it demonstrates the credibility of the local 
certification schemes and allows for easy entry 
of local products into regional and international 
markets. It is on record, that some of our local 
exporters, time and again, experience challenges 

to export products to some international 
markets due to non-tariff barriers bordering on 
the recognition of certifications. It is my sincere 
expectation and delight that attainment of 
accreditation will ease and broaden opportunities 
for local producers to access external markets.   

2. Expanding the testing scope for the Testing 
Laboratories 

 Another key priority is expanding and diversifying 
the services offered under the Testing Laboratories. 
Currently, testing services are more inclined 
towards the food and beverages sector due to 
limited capacity to test non-food products. I am 
however, glad to report that as part of the plans 
to expand the testing scope, a solar products 
laboratory is scheduled to be commissioned in 
the first quarter of 2022.  The laboratory is being 
sponsored by Africa Clean Energy Technical 
Assistance Facility (ACE TAF) and funded by 
the International Finance Corporation (IFC).  It 
is envisaged that more of such laboratories will 
be opened to cater for other sectors such as 
engineering and construction.

I take this opportunity to thank all our customers 
who continue to access the services that the Bureau 
provides. We do not take this support lightly and 
commit to the continuous improvement of our 
service offering.

I also wish to pay tribute to the staff of the Bureau 
both in the technical field and non-technical fields for 
their resilience, dedication and commitment which 
has led to the achievement of this performance for 
2021. In view of its mandate which requires a highly 
skilled technical team, the Bureau continues to 
attract, develop and retain the best people. 
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ZABS Management Team03

Manuel Mutale 
Executive Director
Qualification: (MBA, FCCA, FZICA, BSc Chem)

Nathan Sing’ambwa 
Director Finance & Corporate Services
Qualification: (MBA, FCCA,FZICA )

Belinda S. Kancheya 
Standards Development and 
Training Manager
Qualification: (MSc, BSc BioChem)

Vacant
Director Technical Services

Andrew Chipongo 
Laboratories Manager
Qualification: (MSc, BSc Chem)

Nteema Muzandu 
Certification Manager 
Qualification: (BEng, MEIZ)

Alex Mubita 
Finance Manager
Qualification: (MBA, FCCA, AZICA)

Vincent Numbwa 
Internal Audit Manager
Qualification:  (MBA, FCCA, FZICA, )
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We will act visibly 
and justifiably 

to promote 
participation and 

accountability with 
our clients and 
stakeholders.

 We shall be 
answerable to 

stakeholders for all 
our activities

We will strive to 
meet the diverse 

needs of our clients 
with efficiency and 

commitment

 We will strive to 
be proactive in 
the provision of 

services and ensure 
that our clients are 

attended to in a 
timely manner

We will always 
be diligent, 

committed, efficient 
and effective in the 

execution of our 
duties, providing a 

service next to none

TRANSPARENCY

CAPABILITY COMPETENCE STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIPS

ACCOUNTABILTY SERVICE DELIVERY TIMELINESS EXCELLENCE

OUR MANDATE

MISSION

CORE VALUES

The Zambia Bureau of Standards is a statutory 
body under the Ministry of Commerce, Trade and 
Industry established in 1982. It implements the 
Standards Act No. 4 of 2017 of the laws of Zambia 
which repealed the CAP 416 of 1994.

The Standards Act No. 4 of 2017 mandates ZABS 
to provide Standardization and Quality Assurance 
of products and services through the setting of 
national standards and the provision of conformity 
assessment services which are voluntary services.

The functions of the Bureau as provided in the Act 
among many others include

a) develop, publish, maintain or withdraw Zambian 

National Standards and related normative 
publications serving the standardization needs 
in Zambia;

b) provide inspection services, testing services 
and system and product certification;

c) provide a voluntary certification mark scheme 
for the assurance of product conformity to 
standards;

d) promote quality health and safety standards for 
commodities , products and services;

e) facilitate efficiency in industry and promote 
trade through standardization

A credible and proactive institution in providing standardization and quality assurance services

To promote competiveness of industry and a quality culture

ZABS has maintained its 
accreditation in 33 methods and 
56 parameters of its laboratories 
status to ISO 17025 since 2015. 
This demonstrates competency, 
credibility and impartial testing 

services

ZABS has highly skilled and 
competent technical staff to 

manage the various demands and 
needs of industry

Built and maintained strategic 
partnerships within the region 

which are key in helping industry 
gain access to wider markets

ZABS VALUE PROPOSITION

VISION
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ZABS’ VALUE CONTRIBUTION TO BROADER SOCIETY, INDUSTRY AND ZAMBIA

ZABS Membership

Accreditation

BENEFIT TO ZAMBIA

Provides the strategic 
framework, coordinates 
and leads stakeholder 
engagements, 
promotion, maintenance 
and dissemination of 
national standards and 
related normative.

Support inclusive 
growth

•  Quality assurance for 
consumers

• Fairness in the 
market

Fair and transparent 
process to determine 
standards and 
conformance

Enable producers and 
suppliers to compete 
fairly

Linkages to internal markets 
through standards and 
conformity assessments

Support for socio- economic 
development policies

Fair competition

Undertakes conformity 
assessment activities 

which ensure 
conformity to standards 

and other technical 
regulations

Facilitation of new 
and better processes, 
products and services 
by improving access 
by SMEs and Large 
Enterprises to ZABS 

services

Provide platform for 
support to access 

services by SMMEs 
and Large Enterprises

Protect local employment
Enable local production

Fair competition
Safety to consumers

Improve speed to market
Facilitate new entrants to 

the market

Provision of training 
services to SMEs and 

Large Enterprises 
on standards and 

conformity assessment 
related matters

Correct 
implementation and 

use of standards

Ensure compliance to 
standards proficiency 

in quality management

Fair trade environment where 
standards are consistently 

applied in the procurement of 
products and services

BENEFIT TO LOCAL 
INDUSTRY

BENEFIT TO 
SOCIETY

WHAT ZABS DOES
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Ministry of Commerce, Trade and Industry

ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE

THE BOARD

Manager  
Internal Audit 

Manager  
Finance

Senior Procurement 
Officer

Manager
Marketing & 

Communications

Manager
Human Resources 
& Administration

Manager 
Certifications

Manager 
Laboratories

Manager 
Standards 

Development 
& Training

Director
Finance and Corporate 

Services

Director
Technical Services

Executive Director
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Performance Outlook
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The Zambia Bureau of Standards develops 
standards in various sectors including Food and 
Agriculture, Building and Construction, Information 
Communication Technology, Chemicals and Health, 
Electro-technical, Mechanical, Engineering and 
Metallurgy, Timber, and Timber products, among 
others. Zambian standards are developed to support 
industry manufacture quality and safe products that 

Standards Development and Training01

can compete effectively on both the local and export 
markets. During the year under review, a total of 
771 standards projects advanced through various 
stages of standards development and 40 Technical 
Committee meetings were held. The cumulative 
number of standards published as at the year end 
stood at 6,557

2019
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700

280440 423380 280

2020

Annual target

Standards Development

Actual Performance

2021

Standards Development and Training Team

Figure1: Standards Development
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ZABS also hosts the Secretariat for the Southern 
Africa Development Community Cooperation in 
Standardization (SADCSTAN), a structure responsible 
for co-ordination of harmonization of standards in 
the SADC region.

Under the SADCSTAN secretariat, ZABS held 
twenty two administrative meetings that included 
the Standards Management Committee (SMC), 
Executive Committee (ExCo), the Annual General 
Meeting (AGM) and Secretariat related meetings. 
Others include six technical committee meetings.

0

SMC ExCo EAGM

Secretariate

No. of Meetings

SADCSTAN Meetings

Technical

2

4

6

8 

1

3

5

7

9

10

3 3

1

15 6

ZABS participates in various Regional and 
International standards development/ harmonization 
activities under different technical committees. 
During the period under review, ZABS participated 

Summary of Standards Development – Projects under Harmonization

Regional and International Standards Development Activities

Status main stage 
Year-2021 Year-2020

Total FAD CED Total FAD CED

AFSEC 18 - 18 - - -

ARSO 13 - 13 102 25 77

IEC 1 - 1 1 - 1

ISO 34 3 31 34 3 31

SADCSTAN 60 - 60 73 1 73

Total 126 3 123 210 29 181

in a total of 126 international/regional standards 
development projects. The details are as shown in 
the table below:

Japhet Mwaijibe (3rd from right) received an award of excellence for standards development technical 
committee work during the 2021 World Standards Day celebrations held at Southern Sun Hotel

Figure 2: SADCSTAN Meetings
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A total of 72 trainings out of a target of 75 were 
conducted in 2021 and these included 34 for large 
enterprises and 38 for Micro Small and Medium 
Enterprises (MSMEs). From the 38 trainings 
conducted, 500 SMEs where trained, bringing 
the cumulative number of SMEs trained to 1,450. 
The training to industry was based largely on ISO 

Training to Industry

Training to Industry

Type of Training Conducted 2021 2020

Quality Management System (ISO 9001) 21 8

Food Safety Management System (ISO 22000) 5 0

Occupational Health and Safety Management System (ISO 45001) 2 1

Laboratory Management System (ISO 17025) 3 3

Good Manufacturing Practices 39 29

Hazard Analysis Critical Control Point (HACCP) 1 7

Others 1 1

Total 72 49

9001 (Quality Management Systems), ISO 22000, 
(Food Safety Management System), ISO 45001 
(Occupational Health and Safety Management 
System), Good Agricultural Practices (GAP) and 
Good Manufacturing Practices (GMP). Refer to Table  
below:

Her Honour the Vice President of the Republic of Zambia Mrs. W.K Mutale Nalumango (right) and ZABS Executive 
Director Mr. Manuel Mutale(far left) handing over an award to Mrs. Sylvia Horemans (centre) an SME, at the 2021 
Zambia Annual Quality Awards
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Certification Services02

Certification services offer the following Certification Schemes: Product Certification (Quality Mark Scheme, 
Certified Local Supplier Scheme, and the Good Food Logo Scheme), and the Management systems Certification 
scheme. The performance of these Schemes is highlighted as below.

Certification Team

1.0   Management Systems

During the year under review 13 companies were 
certified on the Management Systems (MS) scheme 
against a target of 15 companies, compared to 11 
against a target of 12 in 2020. Eight (8) companies 
were certified to Quality Management System (ISO 
9001), two (2) companies to integrated management 
system (ISO 9001, ISO 14001& ISO 45001), two (2)  
companies to Food Safety Management System (ISO 
22000) and one (1) to Occupational Health and Safety 
Management System (ISO 45001). The cumulative 
total of certified companies stood at 39 by the end 
of 2021.

2.0   Product Certification

2.1   Quality Mark Scheme

During the year under review, 102 products were 
certified under the Quality Mark Scheme against 
a target of 200. The cumulative total of certified 
products stood at 472 by the end of 2021.

2.2   Certified Local Supplier Scheme

Under the Certified Local Supplier Scheme 56 new 
products were certified against a target of 60. The 
cumulative total of certified products stood at 83 
by the end of 2021.The increase in the number 
of certified products was attributed to increased 
awareness of this SME scheme. 

2.3   Good Food Logo Scheme

The number of certified products under the Good 
Food Logo Sscheme increased by 23 products from 
11 products in 2020. The cumulative number of 
certified products stood at 34 by the end of 2021. 
The products certified included dried fruits and 
vegetables, peanut butter, Cassava meal and cereal 
products.
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13

102 472 56 342383

08 02 02 01Companies 
certified on the 
Management 
Systems

Products 
were 
certified in 
2021

Cumulative 
number of 
certified 
products

Certified 
products 
under 
CLSS
in 2021

The cumulative 
products to 
Good Food 
Logo in 2021.

Certified 
products to 
Good Food 
Logo in 2021.

The cumulative 
products of 
certified under 
CLSS in 2021.

Companies 
certified to QMS

Companies 
to Integrated 
Management 
Systems

Companies 
certified to 
FSMS 
(ISO 22000)

Companies 
certified to 
OHSAS
(ISO45001)(ISO 9001)

(MS) (ISO 9001, ISO 
14001& ISO 45001)

ZABS visit to  Horn of Africa Bottling and Manufacturing Company a water packaging process plant in Solwezi 
Northwestern province

Standards Association of Zimbabwe Director General Dr. Eve Gadzikwa (second from left) with ZABS 
Management during a Company visit to Mt Meru Lubricants in Chibombo District. 
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The laboratories tested a total of 7286 samples 
during the year 2021 against a target of 8,196. 
The workload was 20% higher than 2020 which 

was at 6,065 samples tested. The average reporting 
time during the year 2021 was recorded at 9 days on 
average. Customer satisfaction rating for the quality 
of service provided by the Laboratory continued 
to be positive and averaged 95%. The products 
tested during the year under review included fruit 
flavored drinks, water, biscuits, soaps/detergents, 
peanut butter, cooking oils, clear/opaque beers, 
stock feeds and fertilizers. Other products included 
jams, marmalades, condoms and gloves, packaging 
materials and textiles, petroleum products, paints/
varnishes, maize meal, flour, miscellaneous food 
stuffs, chemicals, electrical/household appliances 
and miscellaneous Products. 

The graphs below indicate the trends in workload, 
distribution of the products tested for the year 2021 
and the volumes of samples tested from 2015 to 
2021 respectively.

The sample distribution received from different 

Testing Laboratories 03

clients was follows. A total of 3,864 was received 
from external clients representing 53% while 2,942 
samples representing 40% were from Zambia 
Compulsory Standards Agency (ZCSA). The 
Certification and Standards Development section 
under ZABS who are internal clients contributed 480 
samples representing 7%. Refer below 

Laboratory Technician Ng’andwe Chansa reviewing 
test results in the Mineral Value Chain Laboratory

Laboratory Team
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Products tested in the year 2021

SAMPLES

3,864 
received from 
external clients

53% 40% 7%

2,942 
received from 
ZCSA

480
received  from 
ZABS internal clients 

Minister of Commerce Trade and Industry Hon. Chipoka Mulenga (left) is shown the Mineral Value Chain 
laboratory by ZABS Executive Director (right) Mr Mutale during a tour of the operations

Figure 4: Products tested in the year 2021
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ZCSA

External  & 
Private

ZABS 
Certification/STDS

40%

53%7%

Sample 
distribution 
per client in 

the year 2021

Permanent Secretary MCTI Mrs. Chawe Chuulu (7th from right) with MCTI Officials and ZABS Management after a 
familiarization visit to ZABS

Figure 5: Sample tested yearly trends
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FINANCE04

During the period under review, the Bureau 
received ZMW 31.15m from Government as 
appropriation in aid and ZMW 6.67m income 

was recorded as other income and funds from 
other cooperating partners. The total expenditure 
amounted to ZMW 35.06m. The finance section 
continued to manage the financial resources of the 
Bureau in a prudent manner as most activities were 
done within the approved budget.

The Bureau collected and deposited ZMW 23.49m 
into Government transit account as a contribution 
to non-tax revenues for the Government from the 
Testing, Certification, Sale of Standards and Training 
Services the bureau offers to the public. The collected 
revenue was above the targeted amount for the year 
of ZMW 21.15m by 11%. The 2021 collected revenue 
was also above the 2020 actual revenues collected 
by 56%. The breakdown of the revenue per section 
is as per the figure 6. The detailed 2021 financial 
performance of the Bureau is as presented in the 
audited financial report section under Part D.

Finance Team

Testing - 12,250,140.36

Standards and Training - 1,535,413

Certification - 9,704,584

52%41%

7%
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Human Resource and Administration05

The ZABS team is a committed team of experts 
in both the technical and non-technical fields. 
Built on the foundation of strong values and 

a commitment to the institutions’ code of ethics 
the staff throughout the years have executed their 
work with integrity and a sense of responsibility 
and accountability. ZABS strives to provide a safe, 
challenging and rewarding environment for each of 
its employees.

The institution continues to deliver on its mandate 
as the Human Resource (HR) function is evolving 
with the business to provide more integrated and 

relevant solutions. In particular, the HR function in 
the year under review focused on enhancing human 
capital through skilled and motivated staff, improved 
staff performance, improved service provision and 
improved organizational culture. 

A case in point is the introduction of the employee 
of the month (EOM) which was developed in a 
quest to motivate members of staff. A total of 5 
employees were honored with this award and each 
of the recipients were handed a shield and certificate 
of appreciation. Below are the pictures of the 
employees that were awarded. 

Employees of the month

Emmanuel Ng’ambi
Lab Assitant

Ng’andwe Chansa
Lab Technician

Chishimba Ilunga
Certification Administrator

Chileshe K. Banda 
Accountant

Obby Mundia 
Business Development 

Officer

Human Resources & Administration Team
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The ZABS ladies presenting assorted items to the University Teaching Hospital (UTH) children’s ward A07 during 
International Women’s day celebrations

ZABS HUMAN CAPITAL STRATEGY IS UNDERPINNED BY THE FOLLOWING FOCUS AREAS

The staff establishment for Zambia Bureau of 
Standards is 104 and the actual total number of 
employees was 67 Representing 60.5% which 
comprise of 25 female employees representing 
34.9% and 42 male employees representing 65.1% 
as at 31st December 2021. 

During the year under review a total number of 6 

employees separated from the institution. The high 
turnover for 2021 prompted the Human Resources 
and Administration section to develop a staff 
retention plan which was approved by management. 
The staff retention plan will guide the section on the 
strategies to implore for specialized and talented 
Human Resources. 

Implementing performance management 
practices that set and evaluate goals on 
a different basis, that requires ongoing 
performance feedback focused on 
learning and future development, to 
ensure that appropriate steps are taken 
to enhance performance and help 
employees grow their careers.

Cultural remodeling to create awareness 
of the required behavioral changes to 
bring about cultural and leadership shifts 
to ensure that ZABS transitions towards a 
service and client centric culture

Introduced the employee of the month 
awards and five (05) employees were 
awarded as Overall Employee of the 
Month and ten (10) employees were 
awarded as Departmental Employee of 
the Month

Talent acquisition, including recruitment, 
on boarding graduate placement. ZABS 
attracts, develop mobilize, optimize 
engage and retain the best people.

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT

LEADERSHIP AND CULTURE

REWARD AND RECOGNITION

TALENT MANAGEMENT
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ZABS Chief Security Officer Elison Mtenge was one of the recipients of an award during the 2021 Labour Day 
awards.

Zambia Bureau of Standards Staff

67 Employees

34.9%
FEMALE
Employees

 65.1%
MALE

Employees
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PART D
Audited Financial Reports
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Zambia Bureau of Standards
Corporate and Administration Information
for the year ended 31 December 2021

The Board During the period 1 January to 31 December 2021, the Minister had not yet 
appointed the Board, since the realignment of the operations of the Bureau. 
In the absence of the Board, the Permanent Secretary and the Minister in the 
Ministry of Commerce, Trade and Industry continued to provide oversight in 
matters requiring Board attention.

Administration: 
                       

Manuel Mutale 
Vacant 
Nathan Sing’ambwa

Executive Director  
Director – Technical Services    
Director – Finance & Corporate Services      

Auditors Mark Daniels
Plot No. 180
P O Box 33919
Luanshya Road
Elizabetha Villa
Lusaka

Bankers Zambia National Commercial Bank
Centre Branch, Cairo Road
Po Box 31090
Lusaka

Registered Office Zambia Bureau of Standards
Po Box 50259
Plot No. 4526, Lechwe
House, Freedom Way
Lusaka
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Report of the Board

1. Background
  
 The Zambia Bureau of Standards is a Statutory body under the Ministry of Commerce, Trade and 

Industry. It implements the Standards Act No. 4 of 2017 of the laws of Zambia and was established 
by an Act of Parliament in 1982 which was repealed by CAP 416 of 1994. Prior to 1January 2018, ZABS 
operated under CAP 416 which mandated the Bureau to produce Standards, Enforce the Compulsory 
Standards, Test Products and offer Metrology Services to Industry. Under the new Standards Act No 4 
of 2017, the Zambia Bureau of Standards (‘ZABS” or ‘the Bureau”) is specialized in serving the country 
in the fields of standardization, testing, training, quality management systems and certification services. 

2. Principal Activity
 
 The principal activity of the Bureau is to promote and require the adoption of standards in industry 

and commerce. Its registered office is on Stand No. 4526, Lechwe House, Freedom Way, South End, in 
Lusaka.

3. Activities and Services
 
 The functions of the Bureau as per Standards Act no. 4 of 2017 are to:

(a) Develop, publish, maintain or withdraw Zambian National Standards and related normative 
publications serving the standardization needs of Zambia;

 
(b) Administer and maintain standards and ensure conformity with standards.
 
(c) Provide inspection services, testing services and system and product certification.
 
(d) Provide a voluntary certification mark scheme for the assurance of product conformity to standards.
 
(e) Promote quality health and safety standards for commodities, products and services.
 
(f) Facilitate efficiency in industry and promote trade through standardization.
 
(g) Facilitate training in, and provide public education on, standards and quality assurance.
 
(h) Render conformity assessment and related services.
 
(i) Participate and represent Zambia in international, regional and foreign bodies with functions 

similar to the functions of the Bureau.
 
(j) Manage and coordinate the multilateral or bilateral interactions with national standards bodies 

from other countries.

(k) Provide information service to the public on standards and distribute Zambian National Standards 
and similar publications from international and regional bodies. 

 
(l) Provide information for the protection of the consumers on products and services which do not 

comply with this Act.
 
(m) Cooperate with State Institutions and International Organisations in ensuring conformity with 

standards.  
 
(n) Operate as the National Enquiry Point, in consultation with the relevant Ministries and
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(o) Provide for a research and development programme for new standards, improvements of existing 
standards, standardization of test methodology and the articulation of future needs that might 
affect the standards environment.

4. Capital and resources
 
 The Bureau has no subscription capital. It’s capital resources comprise of accumulated funds and 

unamortised deferred credits relating to capital and deferred revenue grants.

5. Financial and Operational Highlights

(a) Operating Results
 
 The operating surplus for the year ended 31December 2021 amounted to ZMW 2.76million (2020: 

deficit ZMW 1.16 million).

(b) Income 
 
 Total incoming resources for the year amounted to ZMW 37.82 million (2020: ZMW 32.62 million).

(c) Expenditure 
 
 Expenditure totalled ZMW 35.06  million (2020: ZMW 33.78 million).
 
 The main operating costs were amortisation ZMW 0.01 Million (2020: ZMW 0.02 Million),Depreciation 

ZMW 1.77 Million (2020: ZMW1.65 Million) costs of personnel ZMW 23.00 million (2020:ZMW 
24.00 million) and recurrent expenditures ZMW 8.38 million (2020: ZMW 6.56 million).

(d) Capital Expenditure
 
 Capital expenditure amounted to ZMW 3.91  million (2020: ZMW 0.48 million)

6. Risk Factors
 
 The Bureau faces a number of operational, legal and financial risks in its operations:

(a) Operational Risk
 
 Operational risk is the risk of losses from inadequate or failed internal processes and systems, 

caused by human error or external events. It has a broad scope and includes transaction 
authorization processing, completeness of income recording, payments processing and the 
management of information, data quality and records. The following are the main risks noted 
under this classification; 

(i) Financial Crime Risk – Financial crime risk is the risk that the Bureau suffers losses as a result 
of internal and external fraud or intentional damage, loss or harm to people, premises or its 
movable assets.

(ii) Technology Risk – Technology is a key business enabler in ZABS and requires an appropriate level 
of control to ensure that the most significant technology risks are effectively managed. Such risks 
include the non-availability of testing and calibration systems, inadequate design and testing of 
new and changed solutions and inadequate system security.

(iii) People Risk – People risk arises from failures of the Bureau to manage its key risks as an employer, 
including lack of appropriate people resource, failure to manage performance and reward, 
unauthorized or inappropriate employee activity and failure to comply with employment related 
requirements.
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(b) Legal Risk
 
 ZABS is subject to a comprehensive range of legal obligations, mostly covered by the Standards 

Act No. 4 of 2017. As a result, it is exposed to many forms of legal risk, which may arise in a number 
of ways; its business may not be conducted in accordance with the requirements of the Act, 
contractual obligations may either not be enforceable as intended or may be enforced against 
the Bureau in an adverse way, the Bureau may face risk where legal proceedings are brought 
merit, the outcome of legal proceedings is inherently uncertain and could result in financial loss. 
Defending legal proceedings can be expensive and time-consuming and there is no guarantee 
that all costs incurred will be recovered, even if the Bureau is successful.

(c) Reporting Risk

(i) Financial Reporting Risk
 
 Financial reporting risk arises from a failure or inability to comply fully with regulations or 

codes in relation to the preparation, presentation or disclosure of financial information. 
Non-compliance could lead to damage to reputation or, in extreme cases, withdrawal of 
external funding. 

(ii) Accounting Risks
 
 The Bureau’s future performance and results could be materially different from expected 

results depending on the outcome of certain potential risks and uncertainties, details 
of which are discussed above. The reported results of the Bureau are also sensitive to 
the accounting policies, assumptions and estimates that underlay the preparation of its 
financial statements. Details of its critical accounting policies and key sources of accounting 
judgments are included on pages 51 to 56.

(iii) Financial Risks
 
 ZABS through its normal operations is exposed to a number of risks on its financial 

instruments, the most significant of which are credit and liquidity. Market (currency and 
interest) risks are generally low. The two main risks on its financial instruments are generally 
deemed to be within manageable limits. The Bureau’s financial risk exposures are discussed 
on pages 57 to 59.

7. Risk Management and Control
 
 As explained on Statement 6 above, the Bureau through its normal operations is exposed to a number 

of risks, the most significant of which are operational, legal and financial risks. The Board is responsible 
for establishing and ensuring maintenance of adequate internal controls over financial reporting. 
However, all internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, 
even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to 
financial statement preparation and presentation.

8. The Board

(a) Composition 
 
 Operations of the Bureau is governed by the Board. The membership of this Board is as provided 

for in Section 6(I) of the Standards Act.
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(b) Members 
 During the period 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021, the Ministry had not yet appointed the 

Board, since realignment of the operations of the Bureau, effective 1 January 2018. In the absence 
of the Board, the Permanent Secretary and the Minister in the Ministry of Commerce, Trade and 
Industry continued to provide oversight in matters requiring board attention.

9. Executive Management 
 
 The following form part of the executive management responsible for administration of the Bureau:

Manuel Mutale  - Executive Director
Vacant   - Director – Technical Services
Nathan Sing’ambwa - Director – Finance & Corporate Services
Alex Mubita  - Finance Manager
Andrew Chipongo - Laboratories Manager
Nteema Muzandu  - Certification Manager
Belinda Kancheya  - Standards Development and Training Manager
Vincent Numbwa  - Internal Audit Manager

10. Pension Scheme
 
 The Bureau has a pension scheme for all permanent and pensionable staff. It is duly registered with the 

Ministry of Lands, the Pensions and Insurance Authority and Zambia Revenue Authority. It is a defined 
contribution retirement benefit plan for all qualifying employees, with minimum contributions being 
5% of employee compensation, in 1:2 split between the member and the employer. The Scheme is 
administered by a separate Board of trustees.

11. Related Party Transactions 
 
 The Bureau has a common enterprise relationship with the Government of the Republic of Zambia 

(“GRZ”) and its departments. Other related party relationships and material balances that the Bureau 
has with its related parties are listed in Note 14 to the financial statements.

12. Events Subsequent to the Reporting Period
 
 There have been no significant events between the year-end and the date of approval of these financial 

statements.
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Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements of Zambia Bureau 
of Standards, comprising the statement of financial position as at 31st  December 2021, and statements of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in Bureau funds and cash flows for the year ended, 
and the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory notes, in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards and the Standard Act 
No. 4 of 2017.

The Board members’ responsibilities include designing, implementing and monitoring internal controls 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and 
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

The Board members’ responsibility also includes maintaining adequate accounting records and an effective 
system of risk management.

In the absence of the Board, ZABS Management in consultation with the parent ministry made an assessment 
of the Bureau’s ability to continue as a going concern and have no reason to believe the business will not be a 
going concern in the year ahead.

Approval of the financial statements 

The financial statements of the Bureau as indicated below, were approved by the Permanent Secretary on 25th  
March 2022 and were signed by:

_______________________ _______________________ 

Permanent Secretary Executive Director

25th March 2022
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 
TO THE ZAMBIA BUREAU OF STANDARDS

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Zambia Bureau of Standards (ZABS), which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the statement of surplus and 
deficit, statement of changes in funds and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Zambia Bureau 
of Standards as at 31 December 2021 and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year ended and 
have been properly prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the bureau in accordance with the International 
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) and other 
independence requirements applicable to performing audit of Zambia Bureau of Standards. We have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code, and in accordance with other ethical 
requirements applicable to performing the audit of Zambia Bureau of Standards. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Other information

The Board is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises of corporate information 
and the Board’s Report as required by the Standards Act No 4 of 2017. The other information does not include 
the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not 
cover the other information and we do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion 
thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information; we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report on this regard. 

Report of the Independent Auditors 
To the Zambia Bureau of Standards
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We	have	audited	the	accompanying	financial	statements	of	Zambia	Bureau	of	Standards	(ZABS),	which	comprise	the	
statement	of	financial	position	as	at	31 December	2020,	and	the	statement	of	surplus	and	deficit,	statement	of	changes	
in	funds	and	statement	of	cash	flows	for	the	year	then	ended,	and	a	summary	of	significant	accounting	policies	and	
other explanatory notes.

In	our	opinion	 the	financial	 statements	give	a	 true	and	 fair	 view	of	 the	financial	position	of	 the	Zambia	Bureau	of	
Standards as at 31 December	2020	and	of	its	financial	performance	and	cash	flows	for	the	year	ended	and	have	been	
properly prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section 
of our report. We are independent of the bureau in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) and other independence requirements 
applicable	to	performing	audit	of	Zambia	Bureau	of	Standards.	We	have	fulfilled	our	other	ethical	responsibilities	in	
accordance with the IESBA Code, and in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing the audit 
of	Zambia	Bureau	of	Standards.	We	believe	that	the	audit	evidence	we	have	obtained	is	sufficient	and	appropriate	to	
provide a basis for our opinion. 

Other information

The Board members are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises of corporate information 
and the Board members’ Report as required by the Standards Act No 4 of 2017. The other information does not include 
the	financial	statements	and	our	auditor’s	report	thereon.	Our	opinion	on	the	financial	statements	does	not	cover	the	
other information and we do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In	connection	with	our	audit	of	the	financial	statements,	our	responsibility	is	to	read	the	other	information	and,	in	doing	
so,	consider	whether	the	other	information	is	materially	inconsistent	with	the	financial	statements	or	our	knowledge	
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information; we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report on this regard. 

 
  

Audit  .  Advisory  . Tax  
  

MARK DANIELS 
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS 
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Report of the Independent Auditors 
To the Zambia Bureau of Standards
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We	have	audited	the	accompanying	financial	statements	of	Zambia	Bureau	of	Standards	(ZABS),	which	comprise	the	
statement	of	financial	position	as	at	31 December	2020,	and	the	statement	of	surplus	and	deficit,	statement	of	changes	
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Standards as at 31 December	2020	and	of	its	financial	performance	and	cash	flows	for	the	year	ended	and	have	been	
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF ZAMBIA BUREAU OF STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

The Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as Management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Bureau’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to the going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Bureau 
or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. Those charged with Governance are 
responsible for overseeing the Bureau’s reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our Objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Bureau’s internal controls.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bureau’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Bureau to cease to continue as a going 
concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities 
or business activities within the Bureau to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Bureaus’ audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.

Report of the Independent Auditors 
To the Zambia Bureau of Standards
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We	have	audited	the	accompanying	financial	statements	of	Zambia	Bureau	of	Standards	(ZABS),	which	comprise	the	
statement	of	financial	position	as	at	31 December	2020,	and	the	statement	of	surplus	and	deficit,	statement	of	changes	
in	funds	and	statement	of	cash	flows	for	the	year	then	ended,	and	a	summary	of	significant	accounting	policies	and	
other explanatory notes.

In	our	opinion	 the	financial	 statements	give	a	 true	and	 fair	 view	of	 the	financial	position	of	 the	Zambia	Bureau	of	
Standards as at 31 December	2020	and	of	its	financial	performance	and	cash	flows	for	the	year	ended	and	have	been	
properly prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section 
of our report. We are independent of the bureau in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) and other independence requirements 
applicable	to	performing	audit	of	Zambia	Bureau	of	Standards.	We	have	fulfilled	our	other	ethical	responsibilities	in	
accordance with the IESBA Code, and in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing the audit 
of	Zambia	Bureau	of	Standards.	We	believe	that	the	audit	evidence	we	have	obtained	is	sufficient	and	appropriate	to	
provide a basis for our opinion. 

Other information

The Board members are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises of corporate information 
and the Board members’ Report as required by the Standards Act No 4 of 2017. The other information does not include 
the	financial	statements	and	our	auditor’s	report	thereon.	Our	opinion	on	the	financial	statements	does	not	cover	the	
other information and we do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In	connection	with	our	audit	of	the	financial	statements,	our	responsibility	is	to	read	the	other	information	and,	in	doing	
so,	consider	whether	the	other	information	is	materially	inconsistent	with	the	financial	statements	or	our	knowledge	
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information; we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report on this regard. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF ZAMBIA BUREAU OF STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal controls 
that we identify during our audit. 

Report on other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the financial statements of Zambia Bureau of Standards as of 31 December 2021 have been 
properly prepared in accordance with the Standards  Act, No. 4 of 2017 and the accounting and other records 
and registers have been properly kept in accordance with the Act. 

Mark Daniels
Chartered Accountants       25th March 2022
Lusaka         

Winston Kasongo AUD/F003127
Partner signing on behalf of the firm

Report of the Independent Auditors 
To the Zambia Bureau of Standards
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We	have	audited	the	accompanying	financial	statements	of	Zambia	Bureau	of	Standards	(ZABS),	which	comprise	the	
statement	of	financial	position	as	at	31 December	2020,	and	the	statement	of	surplus	and	deficit,	statement	of	changes	
in	funds	and	statement	of	cash	flows	for	the	year	then	ended,	and	a	summary	of	significant	accounting	policies	and	
other explanatory notes.

In	our	opinion	 the	financial	 statements	give	a	 true	and	 fair	 view	of	 the	financial	position	of	 the	Zambia	Bureau	of	
Standards as at 31 December	2020	and	of	its	financial	performance	and	cash	flows	for	the	year	ended	and	have	been	
properly prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section 
of our report. We are independent of the bureau in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) and other independence requirements 
applicable	to	performing	audit	of	Zambia	Bureau	of	Standards.	We	have	fulfilled	our	other	ethical	responsibilities	in	
accordance with the IESBA Code, and in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing the audit 
of	Zambia	Bureau	of	Standards.	We	believe	that	the	audit	evidence	we	have	obtained	is	sufficient	and	appropriate	to	
provide a basis for our opinion. 

Other information

The Board members are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises of corporate information 
and the Board members’ Report as required by the Standards Act No 4 of 2017. The other information does not include 
the	financial	statements	and	our	auditor’s	report	thereon.	Our	opinion	on	the	financial	statements	does	not	cover	the	
other information and we do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In	connection	with	our	audit	of	the	financial	statements,	our	responsibility	is	to	read	the	other	information	and,	in	doing	
so,	consider	whether	the	other	information	is	materially	inconsistent	with	the	financial	statements	or	our	knowledge	
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information; we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report on this regard. 

 
  

Audit  .  Advisory  . Tax  
  

MARK DANIELS 
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Plot 180 Luanshya Road, Off Musonda Ngosa Road, Villa Elizabertha, P.O Box 33919, Lusaka, Zambia.  

Tel: +260 – 211- 291401/236751/ E-mail: markdaniels@markdaniels.co,  

WWW.MARKDANIELS.CO  

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ZABS ANNUAL REPORT 2020 26



41ZABS ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Report of the Independent Auditors 
To the Zambia Bureau of Standards
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We	have	audited	the	accompanying	financial	statements	of	Zambia	Bureau	of	Standards	(ZABS),	which	comprise	the	
statement	of	financial	position	as	at	31 December	2020,	and	the	statement	of	surplus	and	deficit,	statement	of	changes	
in	funds	and	statement	of	cash	flows	for	the	year	then	ended,	and	a	summary	of	significant	accounting	policies	and	
other explanatory notes.

In	our	opinion	 the	financial	 statements	give	a	 true	and	 fair	 view	of	 the	financial	position	of	 the	Zambia	Bureau	of	
Standards as at 31 December	2020	and	of	its	financial	performance	and	cash	flows	for	the	year	ended	and	have	been	
properly prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section 
of our report. We are independent of the bureau in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) and other independence requirements 
applicable	to	performing	audit	of	Zambia	Bureau	of	Standards.	We	have	fulfilled	our	other	ethical	responsibilities	in	
accordance with the IESBA Code, and in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing the audit 
of	Zambia	Bureau	of	Standards.	We	believe	that	the	audit	evidence	we	have	obtained	is	sufficient	and	appropriate	to	
provide a basis for our opinion. 

Other information

The Board members are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises of corporate information 
and the Board members’ Report as required by the Standards Act No 4 of 2017. The other information does not include 
the	financial	statements	and	our	auditor’s	report	thereon.	Our	opinion	on	the	financial	statements	does	not	cover	the	
other information and we do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In	connection	with	our	audit	of	the	financial	statements,	our	responsibility	is	to	read	the	other	information	and,	in	doing	
so,	consider	whether	the	other	information	is	materially	inconsistent	with	the	financial	statements	or	our	knowledge	
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information; we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report on this regard. 
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Statement of surplus /deficit

Notes 2021 2020

ZMW ZMW

Income

Appropriation in aid 8 31,150,000 28,232,833

Capital grant 8 453,839 349,085

Deferred income 8 1,046,144 914,536

Other income 9(a) 5,169,333 3,122,657

37,819,316 32,619,111

Expenditure

Costs of certification and testing 9(c) 1,638,103 1,132,893

Costs of income generating activities 9(c) 256,046 300,847

Costs of personnel 9(c) 23,002,883 24,001,930

Amortisation 9(c) 13,719 20,928

Depreciation 9(c) 1,765,670 1,650,341

Recurrent expenditure 9(c) 8,380,980 6,675,915

 35,057,401 33,782,854

Surplus/(deficit) from continuing operations 2,761,914 (1,163,743)

Other gains 9(b) (202,079) 1,361,731

Finance costs 9(d) (40,997) (37,084)

Other comprehensive income

Amortisation of revaluation reserve 268,508 268,508

Total comprehensive surplus 
 

2,787,347 429,412

The notes on pages 45 to 67 form an integral part of these financial statements
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Statement of financial position 

Notes 2021 2020
ZMW ZMW

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 12(a) 17,853,791 15,735,090
Intangible assets 12(b) 27,033 40,752

17,880,824 15,775,842

Current assets
Other financial assets at amortised cost 10(a) 1,315,638 1,542,618
Cash and cash equivalents 10(b) 6,014,856 5,647,886

7,330,494 7,190,504

Total assets 
 

25,211,318 22,966,346

Non-current liabilities
Deferred income 12(c) 3,100,269 1,651,412

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 10(c) 10,658,866 13,062,558
Employee benefit obligations 12(d) 1,372,882 1,829,083
 12,031,748 14,891,641

FUNDS AND LIABILITIES
Capital grants 13(a) 2,599,571 1,462,402
Revaluation reserves 13(b) 11,545,838 11,814,346
Revenue reserves 13(c) (4,066,108) (6,853,455)
 10,079,301 6,423,293

Total funds and liabilities 25,211,318 22,966,346

The notes on pages 45 to 67 form an integral part of these financial statements

The financial statements on pages 41 to 67 were approved by the Permanent Secretary 

on 25th March 2022 and signed by:

  
___________________     _____________________

Permanent Secretary Executive Director
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Statement of changes in funds

Capital 
grants

Revaluation 
reserves

Revenue 
reserves

Total 

ZMW ZMW ZMW ZMW

At 1 January 2020
At start of year 1,811,487 12,082,854 (6,929,569) 6,964,772
Prior year adjustment (353,298) (353,298)

Restated balance 1,811,487 12,082,854 (7,282,867) 6,611,474

Capital grants amortised (349,085) (349,085)
Surplus for the year 160,904 160,904
Other comprehensive income
Transfers from revaluation
    reserves (268,508) 268,508 -

Total changes in funds
As at 31 December 2020 1,462,402 11,814,346 (6,853,455) 6,423,293

At 1 January 2021
At start of year 1,462,402 11,814,346 (6,853,455) 6,423,293

Capital grants amortised (453,839) (453,839)
Received during the year 1,591,008 1,591,008
Surplus for the year 2,518,839 2,518,839
Other comprehensive income
Transfers from revaluation (268,508) 268,508 -
    reserves

Total changes in funds  
 
As at 31 December 2021 2,599,571 11,545,838 (4,066,108) 10,079,301

The notes on pages 45 to 67 form an integral part of these financial statements
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 Statement of cash flows

Notes 2021 2020
ZMW ZMW

Cash flow from operating activities
Surplus for the year 2,518,839 160,904
Adjustments for:
- Prior year adjustment - (353,298)
- Amortisation of capital grants 13(a) (453,839) (349,085)
- Deferred income released 12(c) (1,046,144) (914,536)
- Amortisation of intangible assets 12(b) 13,719 20,928
- Depreciation 12(a) 1,765,670 1,650,341
- Interest received (2,256) (2,029)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
- Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables 226,980 (1,205,722)
- Increase in payables (2,859,893) (2,999,305)
Cash generated from/(used on) operations 163,076 (3,991,802)

Cash flows from Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 12(a) (3,906,122) (514,330)
Adjustments to fixed assets 21,751 1,253,272
Interest received 2,256 2,029
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing activities (3,882,115) 740,971

Cash flows from financing activities
Deferred income received 4,086,009 799,790
Net cash Inflow from financing activities 4,086,009 799,790

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 366,970 (2,451,041)
Opening cash and cash equivalents 5,647,886 8,098,927
Closing cash and cash equivalents 6,014,856 5,647,886

Represented by:
Cash in hand and at bank 6,014,856 5,647,886

The notes on pages 45 to 67 form an integral part of these financial statements
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Notes 

1. Basis of preparing financial statements

  The financial statements of Zambia Bureau of Standards have been prepared on the going 
concern basis and in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and 
comply with the Standards Act No. 4 of 2017.They have been prepared under the historical cost 
convention adjusted by the revaluation of tangible fixed assets. The financial statements are 
presented in Kwacha (ZMW) except where otherwise indicated.

2. Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)

(a) New standards and amendments-applicable 1 January 2021

 The following standards and interpretations apply for the first time to financial reporting 
periods commencing on or after 1 January 2021.

Title Key requirements Effective date*

Covid-19-related 
Rent Concessions 
– Amendments to 
IFRS 16

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, rent concessions have been 
granted to lessees. Such concessions might take a variety of forms, 
including payment holidays and deferral of lease payments. In May 
2020, the IASB made an amendment to IFRS 16 Leases which pro-
vides lessees with an option to treat qualifying rent concessions in 
the same way as they would if they were not lease modifications. 
In many cases, this will result in accounting for the concessions as 
variable lease payments in the period in which they are granted.

Entities applying the practical expedients must disclose this fact, 
whether the expedient has been applied to all qualifying rent con-
cessions or, if not, information about the nature of the contracts to 
which it has been applied, as well as the amount recognised in profit 
or loss arising from the rent concessions.

* The relief was originally limited to reduction in lease payments 
that were due on or before 30 June 2021. However, the IASB subse-
quently extended this date to 30 June 2022.

If a lessee already applied the original practical expedient, it is re-
quired to continue to apply it consistently, to all lease contracts with 
similar characteristics and in similar circumstances, using the subse-
quent amendment. If a lessee did not apply the original practical ex-
pedient to eligible lease concessions, it is prohibited from applying 
the expedient in the 2021 amendment.

However, if a lessee has not yet established an accounting policy on 
applying (or not) the practical expedient to eligible lease conces-
sions, it can still decide to do so.

1 June 2020/

1 April 2021 *

Interest Rate 
Benchmark 
Reform Phase 
2 – Amendments 
to IFRS 9, IAS 39, 
IFRS 7, IFRS 4 
and

IFRS 16

In August 2020, the IASB made amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 
7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 to address the issues that arise during the re-
form of an interest rate benchmark rate, including the replacement 
of one benchmark with an alternative one.

The Phase 2 amendments provide the following reliefs:

1 January 2021
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Notes (continued)

2. Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)

(a) New standards and amendments-applicable 1 January 2021 (continued)

 The following standards and interpretations apply for the first time to financial reporting periods 
commencing on or after 1 January 2021

Title Key requirements Effective date*

Interest Rate 
Benchmark 
Reform Phase 
2 – Amend-
ments to IFRS 
9, IAS 39, IFRS 
7, IFRS 4 and

IFRS 16 (con-
tinued)

•	 When changing the basis for determining contractual cash flows 
for financial assets and liabilities (including lease liabilities), the re-
liefs have the effect that the changes, that are necessary as a direct 
consequence of IBOR reform and which are considered econom-
ically equivalent, will not result in an immediate gain or loss in the 
income statement.

•	 The hedge accounting reliefs will allow most IAS 39 or IFRS 9 
hedge relationships that are directly affected by IBOR reform to 
continue. However, additional ineffectiveness might need to be 
recorded.

•	 Affected entities need to disclose information about the nature 
and extent of risks arising from IBOR inform to which the entity is 
exposed, how the entity manages those risks, and the entity is ex-
posed, how the entity manages those risks, and the entity’s prog-
ress in completing the transaction to alternative benchmark rates 
and how it is managing the transition.

Given the pervasive nature of IBOR-based contracts, the reliefs could 
affect companies in all industries.

1 January 2021
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Notes (continued)

2. Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 

(b) Forthcoming requirements

 As at 30 June 2021, the following standards and interpretations had been issued but were not 
mandatory for annual reporting periods ending on 31 December 2021.

Title Key requirements Effective date*

IFRS 17 Insur-
ance Contracts

IFRS 17 was issued in May 2017 as replacement for IFRS 4 Insurance 
Contracts. It requires a current measurement model where estimates 
are remeasured in each reporting period. Contracts are measured 
using the building blocks of:

•	 discounted probability-weighted cash flows

•	 an explicit risk adjustment, and

•	 a contractual service margin (CSM) representing the unearned 
profit of the contract which is recognised as revenue over the 
coverage period.

The standard allows a choice between recognising changes in discount 
rates either in the statement of profit or loss or directly in other 
comprehensive income. The choice is likely to reflect how insurers 
account for their financial assets under IFRS 9.

An optional, simplified premium allocation approach is permitted for 
the liability for the remaining coverage for short duration contracts, 
which are often written by non-life insurers.

There is a modification of the general measurement model called the 
‘variable fee approach’ for certain contracts written by life insurers 
where policyholders share in the returns from underlying items. When 
applying the variable fee approach, the entity’s share of the fair value 
changes of the underlying items is included in the CSM. The results 
of insurers using this model are therefore likely to be less volatile than 
under the general model.

The new rules will affect the financial statements and key performance 
indicators of all entities that issue insurance contracts or investment 
contracts with discretionary participation features.

Targeted amendments made in July 2020 aimed to ease the 
implementation of the standard by reducing implementation costs 
and making it easier for entities to explain the results from applying 
IFRS 17 to investors and others. The amendments also deferred the 
application date of IFRS 17 to 1 January 2023.

1 January 2023

(deferred from 

1 January 
2021)

Property, Plant 
and Equip-
ment: Pro-
ceeds before 
intended use 
– Amendments 
to IAS 16

The amendment to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment (PP&E) pro-
hibits an entity from deducting from the cost of an item of PP&E any 
proceeds received from selling items produced while the entity is pre-
paring the asset for its intended use. It also clarifies that an entity is 
‘testing whether the asset is functioning properly’ when it assesses the 
technical and physical performance of the asset. The financial perfor-
mance of the asset is not relevant to this assessment.

Entities must disclose separately the amounts of proceeds and costs 
relating to items produced that are not an output of the entity’s ordi-
nary activities.

1 January 2022
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Notes (continued)

2. Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)

(b) Forthcoming requirements (continued)

 As at 30 June 2021, the following standards and interpretations had been issued but were not 
mandatory for annual reporting periods ending on 31 December 2021.

Title Key requirements Effective date*

Reference to 
the Conceptual 
Framework – 
Amendments to 
IFRS 3

Minor amendments were made to IFRS 3 Business Combinations to 
update the references to the Conceptual Framework for Financial 
Reporting and add an exception for the recognition of liabilities and 
contingent liabilities within the scope of IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets and Interpretation 21 Levies. The 
amendments also confirm that contingent assets should not be 
recognised at the acquisition date.

1 January 2022

O n e r o u s 
Contracts – 
Cost of Fulfilling 
a Contract 
Amendments to 
IAS 37

The amendment to IAS 37 clarifies that the direct costs of fulfilling a 
contract include both the incremental costs of fulfilling the contract 
and an allocation of other costs directly related to fulfilling contracts. 
Before recognising a separate provision for an onerous contract, the 
entity recognises any impairment loss that has occurred on assets 
used in fulfilling the contract.

1 January 2022

Annual 
Improvements 
to IFRS 
Standards 
2018–2020

The following improvements were finalised in May 2020:

•	 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – clarifies which fees should be 
included in the 10% test for derecognition of financial liabilities.

•	 IFRS 16 Leases – amendment of illustrative example 13 to remove 
the illustration of payments from the lessor relating to leasehold 
improvements, to remove any confusion about the treatment of 
lease incentives.

•	 IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting 
Standards – allows entities that have measured their assets and 
liabilities at carrying amounts recorded in their parent’s books 
to also measure any cumulative translation differences using the 
amounts reported by the parent. This amendment will also apply 
to associates and joint ventures that have taken the same IFRS 1 
exemption.

•	 IAS 41 Agriculture – removal of the requirement for entities to 
exclude cash flows for taxation when measuring fair value under 
IAS 41. This amendment is intended to align with the requirement 
in the standard to discount cash flows on a post-tax basis.

1 January 2022

Classification 
of Liabilities 
as Current or 
Non-current – 
Amendments to 
IAS 1

The narrow-scope amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial 
Statements clarify that liabilities are classified as either current or non- 
current, depending on the rights that exist at the end of the reporting 
period. Classification is unaffected by the expectations of the entity or 
events after the reporting date (e.g. the receipt of a waver or a breach 
of covenant). The amendments also clarify what IAS 1 means when it 
refers to the ‘settlement’ of a liability.

The amendments could affect the classification of liabilities, particularly 
for entities that previously considered management’s intentions to 
determine classification and for some liabilities that can be converted 
into equity.

They must be applied retrospectively in accordance with the normal 
requirements in IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors.

1 January 2023

(deferred from 
1

January 2022)
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2. Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)

(b) Forthcoming requirements (continued)

 As at 30 June 2021, the following standards and interpretations had been issued but were not 
mandatory for annual reporting periods ending on 31 December 2021.

Title Key requirements Effective date*

Disclosure of 
Accounting 
Policies

– 
Amendments 
to IAS 1 and 
IFRS Practice 
Statement 2

The IASB amended IAS 1 to require entities to disclose their material 
rather than their significant accounting policies. The amendments 
define what is ‘material accounting policy information’ and explain how 
to identify when accounting policy information is material. They further 
clarify that immaterial accounting policy information does not need to 
be disclosed. If it is disclosed, it should not obscure material accounting 
information.

To support this amendment, the IASB also amended IFRS Practice 
Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements to provide guidance on 
how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures.

1 January 
2023

Definition of 
Accounting 
Estimates

– Amendments 
to IAS 8

The amendment to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors clarifies how companies should distinguish 
changes in accounting policies from changes in accounting estimates. 
The distinction is important, because changes in accounting estimates 
are applied prospectively to future transactions and other future events, 
but changes in accounting policies are generally applied retrospectively 
to past transactions and other past events as well as the current period.

1 January 
2023

Deferred Tax 
related to 
Assets and 
Liabilities 
arising from 
a Single 
Transaction – 
Amendments 
to IAS 12

The amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes require companies to 
recognise deferred tax on transactions that, on initial recognition, give 
rise to equal amounts of taxable and deductible temporary differences. 
They will typically apply to transactions such as leases of lessees and 
decommissioning obligations and will require the recognition of 
additional deferred tax assets and liabilities.

The amendment should be applied to transactions that occur on or 
after the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented. In 
addition, entities should recognise deferred tax assets (to the extent 
that it is probable that they can be utilised) and deferred tax liabilities at 
the beginning of the earliest comparative period for all deductible and 
taxable temporary differences associated with:

•	 right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, and

•	 decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities, and the 
corresponding amounts recognised as part of the cost of the related 
assets.

The cumulative effect of recognising these adjustments is recognised in 
retained earnings, or another component of equity, as appropriate.

IAS 12 did not previously address how to account for the tax effects of 
on-balance sheet leases and similar transactions and various approaches 
were considered acceptable. Some entities may have already accounted 
for such transactions consistent with the new requirements. These 
entities will not be affected by the amendments.

1 January 
2023
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2. Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)

(b) Forthcoming requirements (continued)

 As at 30 June 2021, the following standards and interpretations had been issued but were not 
mandatory for annual reporting periods ending on 31 December 2021.

Title Key requirements Effective date*

Sale or 
contribution of 
assets between 
an investor and 
its associate or 
joint venture – 
Amendments to 
IFRS 10 and IAS 
28

The IASB has made limited scope amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated 
financial statements and IAS 28 Investments in associates and joint 
ventures.

The amendments clarify the accounting treatment for sales or 
contribution of assets between an investor and its associates or joint 
ventures. They confirm that the accounting treatment depends on 
whether the non- monetary assets sold or contributed to an associate 
or joint venture constitute a ‘business’ (as defined in IFRS 3 Business 
Combinations).

Where the non-monetary assets constitute a business, the investor 
will recognise the full gain or loss on the sale or contribution of assets. 
If the assets do not meet the definition of a business, the gain or loss 
is recognised by the investor only to the extent of the other investor’s 
interests in the associate or joint venture. The amendments apply 
prospectively.

** In December 2015 the IASB decided to defer the application 
date of this amendment until such time as the IASB has finalised its 
research project on the equity method.

n/a **
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3. Principal accounting policies

 The principal accounting policies applied by the Bureau in the preparation of these financial statements are 
set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise 
stated.

(a) Revenue

 Revenue represents receipts from grants, interest earnings and miscellaneous income accounted 
for on an accrual basis. 

(b) Property, plant and equipment

 Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 

 Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the 
Bureau and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged 
to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

 Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of property, plant and equipment are credited to 
the revaluation surplus in shareholders’ equity. Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset 
are charged against fair value reserves directly in equity; all other decreases are charged to the income 
statement. Each year, the difference between depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of the 
asset charged to the income statement and depreciation based on the asset’s original cost, net of any 
related deferred income tax, is transferred from the revaluation surplus to retained earnings.

 Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of property, plant and equipment on a straight-line basis 
over the expected useful lives of the assets concerned.  The principal annual rates used for this purpose 
are:

  Description  Useful life Depreciation rate

  Land and Buildings 50 years  2%

  Computer equipment 5   years  20%

  Motor vehicles  5   years  20%

  Furniture and fittings 10   years 10%

  Office & Lab equipment   5   years              20%     

 Capital work in progress is not depreciated.   

 The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted if 
appropriate.

 An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying 
amount is greater than its recoverable amount.

 Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount. 
These are included in the income statement in the other operating income. When revalued assets are 
sold, the amounts included in the revaluation surplus relating to these assets are transferred to retained 
earnings.
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3. Principal accounting policies (continued)

(e) Financial assets

 Classification

 The Bureau classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories: those to be 
measured subsequently at fair value (either through OCI or through profit or loss), and those to be 
measured at amortised cost.

 The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the 
contractual terms of the cash flows.

 For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. 
For investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the 
Bureau has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity 
investment at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

 The Bureau reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing 
those assets changes.

 Recognition and derecognition 

 Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date, being the date 
on which the Bureau commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when 
the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and 
the Bureau has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

 Measurements 

 At initial recognition, the Bureau measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of 
a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at 
FVPL are expensed in profit or loss

 Equity instruments 

 The Bureau subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the Bureau’s 
management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in OCI, 
there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following the 
derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such investments continue to be recognised in 
profit or loss as other income when the Bureau’s right to receive payments is established.

 Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are recognised in other gains/(losses) in the 
statement of profit or loss as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) 
on equity investments measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from other changes in fair 
value.

 Impairment 

 The Bureau assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit loss associated with its debt 
instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied depends 
on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

 For trade receivables, the Bureau applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which 
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables, see 
note 11(a) for further details.
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3. Principal accounting policies (continued)

(f) Impairment of assets

 Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation 
and are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment 
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and 
value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels 
for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash 
inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other 
than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at 
the end of each reporting period.

(g) Cash and cash equivalents

 For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 
includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank 
overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the balance sheet

(i) Trade receivables

 Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional, unless 
they contain significant financing components when they are recognised at fair value. They are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less loss allowance. 
See note 11(a) for further information about the Bureau’s accounting for trade receivables and note 
6(ii) for a description of the Bureau’s impairment policies

(j) Trade and other payables

  These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Bureau prior to the 
end of the financial year which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 
30 days of recognition. Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilities unless payment 
is not due within 12 months after the reporting period. They are recognised initially at their fair value 
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

(k) Foreign currencies

(i) Functional and presentation currency

 Items included in the financial statements of the Bureau are measured using the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). 
The financial statements are presented in Zambian currency units, which is Zambia Bureau of 
Standards functional and presentation currency
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(ii) Transactions and balances

 Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the rates of exchange 
prevailing at the date of transactions.  Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement.

 Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equity at fair value through profit or loss are 
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary items, such 
as equities classified as available for sale financial assets, are included in fair value reserve in equity. 

 (l) Employee benefits

 (i) Pension obligations

(a) National Pension Scheme-Before October 2009, the employees of the Bureau were solely 
members of the government managed defined contribution scheme, the National Pension 
Scheme. The Bureau is required to contribute to the scheme 10% of each employee’s 
compensation, split evenly between the employer and the employee. The only obligation of 
the Bureau with respect to the retirement benefit plan is to make the specified contributions.

(b) Zambia Bureau of Standards Pension Trust Scheme-From October 2009, the Bureau also 
operated the Zambia Bureau of Standards Pension Scheme-defined contribution scheme 
for all qualifying employees. Contributions to the scheme are split between employees and 
employer, in a 1:2 split of at least 5%of employee’s compensation. The assets of the scheme 
are held in separate trustee-administered funds, the bureau has no legal or constructive 
obligations to pay further contribution if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all 
employees the benefits relating to employee’s service in the current and prior periods. The 
total expense recognised in the income statement represents contributions payable to these 
plans by the bureau at rates specified in the rules of the plans.

 (ii) Gratuity obligations

  The estimated monetary liability for employees’ accrued gratuity pay entitlement at  
 the balance sheet date is recognised as an expense accrual.
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3. Principal accounting policies (continued)

(m) Provisions

 Restructuring costs and legal claims

 Provisions for restructuring costs and legal claims are recognised when: The Bureau has a present 
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is more likely than not that an outflow 
of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. 
Restructuring provisions comprise lease termination penalties and employee termination payments. 
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

 Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required 
in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is 
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same 
class of obligations may be small.

(n) Inventories

 Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost is determined on a first in first out 
basis and includes all expenditure incurred in the normal course of business in bringing the goods 
to their present location and condition, including production overheads based on normal level of 
activity. Net realisable value takes into account all further costs directly related to marketing, selling 
and distribution. Provision is made for obsolete and slow moving inventories.
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4 Critical accounting estimates and judgments

 The Bureau makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances.

5. Financial Risk management

 Exposure to currency, interest rate and credit risk, arises in the normal course of the Bureau’s business.

 Currency risk

 The Bureau incurs currency risk as a result of bank balances denominated in foreign currencies. The Bureau 
has operational bank accounts in US Dollars. No hedge is taken out for this risk.

 Interest rate risk

 The Bureau is exposed to interest rate risk to the extent of the balance of the bank accounts. 

 Credit risk

 No collateral is required in respect of financial assets. The Bureau takes on exposure to credit, which is the 
risk that a counterparty will cause a financial loss to the bureau by failing to pay amounts in full when due. 

   At the statement of financial position date, there were no significant concentrations of credit risks (2019: 
nil).

 The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the 
statement of financial position.

 Liquidity risk

 Liquidity risk arises in the general funding of the Bureau’s activities.

 Liquidity management is directed towards ensuring that all the Bureau’s operations can meet their funding 
needs, whether this is to replace existing funding as it matures, or is withdrawn.
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6. Financial instruments 

 

 Exposure to currency, interest rate, credit and liquidity risk arises in the normal course of the Bureau 
business.

(i) Credit risk

 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Bureau if a customer or counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations and arises principally from the Bureau’s 
receivables and cash balances. The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum 
credit exposure.  The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

Note 2021 2020

ZMW ZMW

Cash and cash equivalents 6,014,856 5,647,886

Other financial assets at amortised cost     
1,315,638

1,542,618

7,330,494 7,190,504

The bank accounts are held with reputable banks.

 (ii) Impairment losses

 
 The aging of other financial assets at amortised cost at the reporting date was:

31 December 2021 Current 1-30 Days
31-60 
Days

61-90 
Days

Over 90 
Days Total

Gross carrying amount – 
other financial assets 1,315,638 - - - - 1,315,638

Loss allowance - - - - -

1,315,638 - - - - 1,315,638

31 December 2020 Current 1-30 Days
31-60 
Days

61-90 
Days

Over 90 
Days Total

Gross carrying amount– 
other financial assets

1,542,618

- - - - 1,542,618

Loss allowance - - - - - -

1,542,618 - - - - 1,542,618

Trade receivables and other debtors are written off where there is no reasonable expectation of 
recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others, 
the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Bureau, and a failure to make 
contractual payments for a period of greater than 90 days past due.

Impairment losses on trade receivables and other debtors are presented as net impairment losses 
within operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited 
against the same line item.
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6. Financial instruments (continued)

 (iii) Liquidity risk

 The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities.

 31st December 2021

Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
cash flows Within 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years

Longer than 
5 years

ZMW ZMW ZMW ZMW ZMW ZMW

Financial liabilities

Trade payables 257,401 257,401 257,401 - - -

Other payables 10,401,465 10,401,465 4,117,605 - - 6,283,860

Total 10,658,866 10,658,866 4,375,006 - - 6,283,860

 31st December 2020

Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
cash flows Within 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years

Longer than 
5 years

ZMW ZMW ZMW ZMW ZMW ZMW

Financial liabilities

Trade payables 23,419 23,419 23,419

Other payables 13,039,139 13,039,139 6,755,279 - - 6,283,860

Total 13,062,558 13,062,558 6,778,698 - - 6,283,860

Currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because 
of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Bureau’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange 
rates relates primarily to the Bureau’s operating activities (when revenue or expense is denominated in 
a foreign currency).  

The summary quantitative data about the Bureau’s exposure to currency risk as reported to the 
management is as follows:

2021

Kwacha 
Equivalent of 

FC balances

10%

FC

Net amount

FC

Cash and cash equivalents

Net exposure 3,010,214 301,021 2,709,192

The following significant exchange rates have been applied during the year:

Reporting Date Spot rate

Kwacha 2021 2020

US$ 1 17.65 21.36
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6. Financial instruments (continued)

(iv) Currency risk (continued)

 Sensitivity Analysis

 A 10 percent strengthening of the Kwacha against the foreign exchange exposure at 31st 
December 2021 would have increased the profit and increased the retained income.  This would 
have been by the amounts shown below. Thus, this analysis assumes that all other variables, in 
particular interest rates, remain constant and ignores any impact of forecast sales and purchases. 

Bureau income and surplus/(deficit)

ZMW

(301,021)

 

 31st December 2021 

 A 10 percent weakening of the Kwacha against the foreign exchange exposure at 31st December 
2021 would have the equal but opposite effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown 
above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.

7. Revenue from Government grants     

 Revenue represents receipts of Government grants and miscellaneous income.

8. Income     

2021 2020

ZMW ZMW

Appropriation in aid 31,150,000 28,232,833

Capital grants released 453,839 349,085

Deferred income 1,046,144 914,536

Non-operating income 5,169,333 3,122,657

37,819,316 32,619,111

9. (a) Other Income     

2021 2020

ZMW ZMW

Sundry income 5,169,333 3,122,657



60 ZABS ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Notes (continued)

9. (b) Other gains and losses     

2021 2020

ZMW ZMW

Net exchange (loss)/ gains (202,079) 1,361,731

(202,079) 1,361,731

9. (c) Breakdown of expenses by nature     

Costs of certification and testing 1,638,103 1,132,893

Costs of income generating activities 256,046 300,847

Costs of personnel 23,002,883 24,001,930

Amortisation of intangible assets 13,719 20,928

Depreciation 1,765,670 1,650,341

Recurrent expenditure 8,380,980 6,675,915

35,057,401 33,782,854

9. (d) Financial costs and incomes     

Financial income

Interest income from financial assets held for cash manage-
ment purposes

2,256 2,029

Financial costs

Interest and finance charges paid (43,253) (39,113)

Net finance costs (40,997) (37,084)

10. Financial assets and financial liabilities     

This note provides information about the Bureau’s financial instruments, including: an overview of all 
financial instruments held by the Bureau specific information about each type of financial instrument 
accounting policies information about determining the fair value of the instruments, including 
judgements and estimation uncertainty involved.

2021 2020

Financial assets ZMW ZMW

Financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost 1,315,638 1,542,618

Cash and cash equivalents 6,014,856 5,647,886

7,330,494 7,190,504

2021 2020

Financial liabilities ZMW ZMW

Liabilities at amortised cost

Trade and other payables 10,658,866 13,062,558
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2021 2020

ZMW ZMW

10. Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(a)  Other financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets at amortised cost include the following debt investments

Other receivables 1,315,638 1,542,618

Less:

Provision for impairment losses - -

1,315,638 1,542,618

Classification of financial assets at amortised cost 

The Bureau classifies its financial assets as at amortised cost only if both of the following criteria are met:

•	 the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, 
and

the contractual terms give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest. 

Impairment and risk exposure

Information about the impairment of trade receivables and the Bureau’s exposure to credit risk and 
foreign currency risk can be found in note 6(i), (ii) and (iii).

Other receivables

These amounts generally arise from transactions outside the usual operating activities of the Bureau.

10. (b)  Cash and cash equivalents

Cash in hand and at bank 6,014,856 5,647,886

Short term deposits with commercial banks - -

6,014,856 5,647,886

 Reconciliation to cash flow statement

 The above figures reconcile to the amount of cash shown in the statement of cash flows at the 
end of the financial year as follows:

Balances as above 6,014,856 5,647,886

Bank overdrafts - -

Balances per statement of cash flows 6,014,856 5,647,886

 Classification as cash equivalents

 Term deposits are presented as cash equivalents if they have a maturity of three months or less 
from the date of acquisition and are repayable with 24 hours’ notice with no loss of interest. See 
note 3(g) for the Bureau’s other accounting policies on cash and cash equivalent
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2021 2020

ZMW ZMW

10. (c)  Trade and other payables

  Current liabilities

Trade payables   257,401 23,419

Sundry Payables, Accruals & Provisions 10,401,465 13,039,139

 10,658,866 13,062,558

Trade payables are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are considered to be the same as their fair values, 
due to their short-term nature

11. Non-financial assets and financial liabilities

This note provides information about the Bureau’s non-financial assets and liabilities, including: specific 
information about each type of non-financial asset and non-financial liability:

•	 property, plant and equipment

•	 Intangible assets

•	 Deferred income

•	 employee benefit obligations
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12. (a)  Property, plant and equipment

(a) Summary

Land & 
Buildings Motor Vehicles

Laboratory

Equipment

Fixtures 
& office 

equipment Total 

Cost/valuation ZMW ZMW ZMW ZMW ZMW

At I January 2020 15,502,067 4,112,532 26,226,357 4,648,474 50,489,430

Additions 20,900 - - 458,170 479,070

Disposals - - - (565,117) (565,117)

Adjustments (388,077) - (720,130) 93,156 (1,015,051)

At 31 December 2020 15,134,890 4,112,532 25,506,227 4,634,683 49,388,332

At I January 2021 15,134,890 4,112,532 25,506,227 4,634,683 49,388,332

Additions - 512,640 2,949,395 444,087 3,906,122

Adjustments 34,589 - (405,152) (703,407) (1,073,970)

At 31 December 2021 15,169,479 4,625,172 28,050,470 4,375,363 52,220,484

Depreciation

At I January 2020 1,548,257 3,156,319 24,041,729 3,715,287 32,461,592

Charge for the year 301,024 422,646 649,859 276,812 1,650,341

Adjustments (34,006) (181,309) 118,110 110,344 13,139

Elimination on disposal - - - (471,830) (471,830)

At 31 December 2020 1,815,275 3,397,656 24,809,698 3,630,613 33,653,242

At I January 2021 1,815,275 3,397,656 24,809,698 3,630,613 33,653,242

Charge for the year 301,990 464,034 677,224 322,422 1,765,670

Adjustments 33,385 - (404,980) (680,624) (1,052,219)

Elimination on disposal

At 31 December 2021 2,150,650 3,861,690 25,081,942 3,272,411 34,366,693

Net book value

At 31 December 2021 13,018,829 763,482 2,968,528 1,102,952 17,853,791

31 December 2020 13,319,615 714,876 696,529 1,004,070 15,735,090
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12. (a)  Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(i) Summary 

 Carrying amounts that would have been recognised if land and buildings were stated at cost

 If freehold land and buildings were stated on the historical cost basis, the amounts would be as 
follows: 

2021 2020

Land and buildings ZMW ZMW

Cost 2,165,764 2,165,764

Accumulated depreciation (876,488) (833,173)

Net book value 1,289,276 1,332,591

(b)  Intangible asset 

Cost/valuation

At 1 January 678,956 1,300,150

Additions - 35,260

Disposals - (356,240)

Transfers - (300,214)

At 31 December 678,956 678,956

Amortisation 

At 1 January 638,204 1,141,936

Charge for the year 13,719 20,928

Disposals - (198,077)

Transfers - (326,583)

At 31 December 651,923 638,204

Net book value 27,033 40,752
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2021 2020

ZMW ZMW

(c)  Deferred income 

At beginning of the year 1,651,412 1,766,157

Received during the year 2,495,001 799,790

Deferred income released (1,046,144) (914,535)

At end of the year 3,100,269 1,651,412

 These  funds were from World Food Programme under the Good Food Logo project, Zambia 
Quality awards and Zambia Agribusiness Trade Project (ZATP) in order to increase capacity of 
ZABS and tp promote MSMEs in the country.

(d)  Employee benefit obligations

 Current liability

Provision for gratuity 1,372,882 1,829,083

13 (a) Capital grants

At beginning of the year 1,462,402 1,811,487

Received during the year 1,591,008 -

Capital grants amortised (453,839) (349,085)

At end of the year 2,599,571 1,462,402

(b) Revaluation reserves

At beginning of the year 11,814,346 12,082,854

Realisation of revaluation reserves (268,508) (268,508)

At end of the year 11,545,838 11,814,346

  

 The revaluation reserve account records the difference between the new value of the revalued 
assets and their net book values, which is represented by cost less accumulated depreciation.  
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Notes (continued)

13 (C)  Revenue reserves

2021 2020

ZMW ZMW

At beginning of the year (6,853,455) (6,929,569)

Prior year Adjustment - (353,298)

Surplus for the year 2,518,839 160,904

Realisation of revaluation reserves 268,508 268,508

At end of the year (4,066,108) (6,853,455)

 The Revenue reserves account represents the accumulation of annual surpluses/deficits.  Accumulated 
funds have continued to decline from a deficit of ZMW 6,853,455  (FY2020) to a negative balance of 
ZMW 4,066,108 owing prior to the reported surplus of ZMW 2,518,839 recorded during the year ended 
31st December 2021

 

14 Related parties

(a)  Identity of related parties 

 The Bureau has a common enterprise relationship with Government of the Republic of Zambia. 
As there was no Board during the year, related parties include members of the Bureau’s key 
management team.

(b)  Control and governance of the Bureau

 The Bureau has a common enterprise relationship with Government of the Republic of Zambia 
and falls under the auspices of the Ministry of commerce, Trade and Industry. Internal supervision 
of its management and control of the affairs of the Bureau, however, is vested in the Board. In 
2021, however, as in the prior year, the Bureau had no Board. 

(c) Key management of the Bureau

 The key management of the Bureau i.e. officers other than Board members with the ability, 
directly or indirectly, to control or exercise significant influence over the Bureau in making 
financial and operating decisions, are listed on Corporate and Administration Information and 
their remuneration is shown below.

(d) Transactions with related parties

 None of the Board members, key executives or parties related to them has undertaken any material 
transactions with the Bureau. However, the GRZ and its departments are regarded as single 
related party, the list of related party transactions in these financial statements is summarised 
below.Notes (continued)
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Notes (continued)

14. Related parties (continued)

2021 2020

ZMW ZMW

Government Funding received 31,150,000 28,232,8322

Key management remuneration                                                                    2,428,788 2,392,6333

15. Capital commitments

 The Bureau did not have any capital commitments during the year under review.

16. Contingent liabilities

 There were no contingent liabilities as at the period-end (2020: Nil)

17. Events subsequent to balance sheet date

 There has not arisen since the end of the financial year any item, transactions or event of a material and 
unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the directors of the Bureau, affect substantially the operations of the 
economic entity, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the economic entity in subsequent 
financial years.

18. Comparative figures

 Comparative figures are restated where necessary to afford a reasonable comparison.
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  Appendix I

Recurrent expenditure                       

2021 2020

ZMW ZMW

Advertising & promotions 9,850 62,989

Audit services 69,600 69,600

Cleaning materials and expenses 272,128 223,631

Consultancy and audits - 15,000

Coding of assets 27,814

Electricity 260,723 241,496

Entertainment 54,000 72,000

Equipment accessories - 3,674

Fuel and lubricants 401,737 280,815

Health and safety - 10,020

Insurance 180,813 308,767

Legal fees - 30,000

Lunch allowances 16,622 10,990

Marketing and public relations expenses 532,163 346,490

Market surveillance fees 3,217 -

Office and meeting expenses 157,442 86,294

Other expenses - 50,579

VAT on sales write off 2,352,126 1,481,797

Postage, post box rentals and courier services 56,939 30,446

Printing & stationery 437,298 377,244

Protective clothing & uniforms 9,830 30,059

Recruitment expenses 9,757 14,837

Rent and rates 51,260 40,500

Renewal of payroll package licences 60,787 16,471

Repairs and maintenance-buildings 179,772 91,010

Repairs and maintenance-equipment 361,499 208,669

Repairs and maintenance-motor vehicles 252,725 249,945

Security services 164,400 164,400

Staff training & development study tours 63,985 69,050

Staff welfare 243,005 192,130

Fees for subscriptions 856,111 767,382

Subsistence allowances-local 612,328 322,648

Subsistence allowances-foreign 40,383 116,413

Telephone, fax, email 268,674 261,767

Tender meetings sitting allowances 3,000 2,320

Travel expenses-foreign 7,401 41,462

Travel expenses-local 119,955 65,168

Water and sewerage 41,025 32,757

Workshop expenses 202,611 164,152

Write offs - 122,943

Total recurrent expenditure 8,380,980 6,675,915


